C3-INDAZOLE FUNCTIONALIZATION: A REVIEW

DOI: http://dx.medra.org/10.17374/targets.2022.25.100 Francis Giraud, Fabrice Anizon, Pascale Moreau

Institute of Chemistry of Clermont-Ferrand, Université Clermont Auvergne, CNRS, Clermont Auvergne INP,

63000 Clermont-Ferrand, France

(e-mail: pascale.moreau@uca.fr)

Abstract. Induces are versatile building blocks generating numerous in-depth studies for their synthesis and regioselective functionalization. In this review, we focused on non-patent literature describing efficient synthetic methods (chemical yield \geq 80%) which allowed the functionalization of non-fused induces at the 3-position, and published since 2010.

Contents

1. Introduction

- 2. Halogenation
- 2.1. Iodination
- 2.2. Bromination
- 2.3. Chlorination
- 3. Alkylation
- 4. Alkenylation
- 5. (Hetero)arylation
- 6. Acylation
- 7. Formylation
- 8. Nitration
- 9. Amination
- 10. Borylation
- 11. Sulfenylation
- 12. Sulfonylation
- 13. Selenylation
- 14. Conclusion
- References

1. Introduction

Syntheses of nitrogen heteroaromatic systems are developed for numerous potential applications, particularly as biologically active compounds. Thus, scaffolds such as pyridinones,¹ pyridoquinazolines,² or indazoles (Figure 1) are frequently observed in the structure of biologically active compounds such as protein kinases inhibitors.³ Therefore, their synthesis, substitution and functionalization have been widely studied. In this review, we report the most efficient and representative examples of substitution/functionalization at the 3-position of non-fused indazole moieties (chemical yields \geq 80%), published in non-patent literature since 2010.



Figure 1. Structure and numbering of 1*H*- and 2*H*-indazoles.

2. Halogenation

Halogenation reactions are of high interest for further structural modifications using a variety of conditions, such as metalation or metal-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions. Thus, many reports describe various experimental conditions to introduce a halogen atom at indazole C3-position. Most of the reported

halogenations are iodination and bromination with a few examples of chlorination. Concerning fluorination, no example with high chemical yield was found in the non-patent literature.

2.1. Iodination

Few examples of iodination have been reported in patents from N-1 protected indazoles by *t*-butoxycarbonyl (Boc), Me or tetrahydropyranyl (THP) groups. However, iodinations are most often performed from non-protected indazoles using I₂ as iodinating agent under basic conditions (potassium hydroxide/sodium hydroxide/potassium carbonate) in DMF or another polar solvent.

3-Iodoindazoles can be obtained in good yields by treating corresponding indazoles with I_2 and KOH in DMF, such as in reaction 1, where 6-bromoindazole was used in the synthesis of VEGFR-2 inhibitors (Scheme 1, reaction 1).⁴ 5-Methoxyindazole was also quantitatively iodinated at the 3-position using similar conditions in dioxane (Scheme 1, reaction 2).⁵ Another example also reported the use of *N*-methylpyrrolidone (NMP) as a solvent.⁶ An alternative to KOH is the use of potassium carbonate. In a structure-activity relationship study (SAR) on 3-vinylindazoles with tropomyosin receptor kinases (Trk) inhibitory potency, 3-iodoindazole, using I_2 in the presence of K_2CO_3 in DMF (Scheme 1, reaction 3).⁷ Similar approaches were used in the synthesis of Axitinib from 6-nitroindazoles,⁸ or polo-like kinase 4 inhibitors from indazoles bearing a spirocyclopropane-1',3'-indolin-2-one moiety at the 6-position.⁹ Similarly, 5- and 6-bromo-3-iodoindazoles were also prepared in excellent yields using potassium *tert*-butoxide in THF.¹⁰ *N*-iodosuccinimide (NIS) was also used as an iodinating agent. For example, 5-bromo-3-iodoindazole was prepared using NIS under basic conditions (KOH) in dichloromethane.¹¹ Hexafluoroisopropanol (HFIP) was found to be an efficient solvent for the preparation of 3-halogenoindazoles in mild conditions (Scheme 1, reaction 4).



Scheme 1. Iodination at the 3-position in the presence of I₂ or NIS as iodinating agents.

Same conditions using *N*-bromosuccinimide at 0 °C led to 3-bromoindazole in 84% yield.¹² Beside these common methods, an efficient electrochemical preparation of *N*1-allyl-3-iodo- (or 3-bromo) indazoles was developed using Pt plates as both anode and cathode, allyl iodide (or bromide) in the presence of NaI (or NaBr/*n*Bu₄NBr) in MeCN (Scheme 2, reactions 5 and 6). A mechanism was proposed by the authors involving a C3-iodination N1-alkylation tandem process.¹³

Finally, magnesiation at the 3-position of N2-THP protected indazoles followed by I_2 trapping led to corresponding 3-iodinated derivatives (Scheme 3, reaction 7).¹⁴

2.2. Bromination

These reactions are less frequently reported than the corresponding iodination. Nevertheless, various experimental conditions allowed the regioselective introduction of a bromine atom at indazole 3-position. In

a work focused on the preparation of 3-aminoindazoles by Buchwald-Hartwig coupling from the corresponding halogeno precursors, the use of Br_2 in DMF afforded 5- or 6-nitro-3-bromoindazole in good yields (Scheme 4, reaction 8).¹⁵ In another article, 4-nitroindazole counterpart was brominated using Br_2 in the presence of NaOAc in a 1:1 AcOH/CHCl₃ mixture (Scheme 4, reaction 9).¹⁶ Reactions using Br_2 as brominating agent were also described in the presence of sodium hydroxide¹⁷ or in hot acetic acid (Scheme 4, reactions 10 and 11).¹⁸ Finally, from diversely substituted 2-arylindazoles, bromination was performed in the presence of Br_2 in a 2:1:0.1 AcOH/MeOH/CH₂Cl₂ mixture (Scheme 4, reaction 12).¹⁹



Scheme 2. Electrochemical halogenation at the 3-position of indazole.

$$I = \frac{10 \text{ TMPMgCHICl}}{10 \text{ THF} -10 \text{ °C}} = \frac{10 \text{ THF} -10 \text{ °C}}{10 \text{ °C} \text{ THF} -10 \text{ °C}} = \frac{10 \text{ °C}}{10 \text{ °C} \text{ to rt}} = \frac{10 \text{ °C} \text{ FIR}}{10 \text{ °C} \text{ to rt}} = \frac{10 \text{ °C} \text{ FIR}}{10 \text{ °C} \text{ to rt}} = \frac{10 \text{ °C} \text{ FIR}}{10 \text{ °C} \text{ to rt}} = \frac{10 \text{ °C} \text{ FIR}}{10 \text{ °C} \text{ to rt}} = \frac{10 \text{ °C} \text{ FIR}}{10 \text{ °C} \text{ to rt}} = \frac{10 \text{ °C} \text{ FIR}}{10 \text{ °C} \text{ to rt}} = \frac{10 \text{ °C} \text{ FIR}}{10 \text{ °C} \text{ to rt}} = \frac{10 \text{ °C} \text{ FIR}}{10 \text{ °C} \text{ to rt}} = \frac{10 \text{ °C} \text{ FIR}}{10 \text{ °C} \text{ to rt}} = \frac{10 \text{ °C} \text{ FIR}}{10 \text{ °C} \text{ FIR}} = \frac{10 \text{ °C} \text{ FIR}} = \frac{10 \text{ °C}$$

Scheme 3. Iodination at the 3-position of N2-protected indazoles.



Scheme 4. Bromination at the 3-position in the presence of Br_2 as brominating agent.

N-bromosuccinimide (NBS) in various solvents (*e.g.* MeCN, 20 CH₂Cl₂, 21 CHCl₃, 22 MeOH, 23 HFIP¹²) is also widely employed for the regioselective introduction of a bromine atom at the 3-position of the indazole heterocyclic system.

In addition, efficient bromination of indazoles using NBS were reported under different reaction conditions. Thus, a visible-light photoredox process with erythrosine as a photocatalyst in the presence of NBS, O_2 and ammonium persulfate,²⁴ or a phosphine sulfide-catalyzed electrophilic bromination,²⁵ led to 3-bromoindazole in 82% yield (Scheme 5, reactions 13 and 14). *N*-Methylindazole was brominated in good yield at the 3-position from NBS and 2,4,6-trimethylaniline, *via* generated *N*-bromoarylamine as a highly



Scheme 5. Bromination at the 3-position in the presence of NBS in various conditions.

In other reaction conditions, mild and efficient indazole bromination using *N*-chloro-*N*-fluorobenzenesulfonamide (CFBSA)/KBr system afforded 3-brominated analog in 98% yield.²⁸ 3-Bromoindazole was also synthesized in 97% yield using tribromoisocyanuric acid in EtOH at room temperature.²⁹

Finally, as already mentioned in the iodination section, the introduction of a bromine atom at the 3-position together with N1-allylation was also reported using an electrochemical approach (Scheme 2, reaction 6).¹³

2.3. Chlorination

N-chlorosuccinimide (NCS) is a chlorinating agent which was used in solvents such as MeCN.³⁰ A DMSO-catalyzed reaction using NCS allowed the chlorination of 5-methoxycarbonylindazole at the 3-position (Scheme 6, reaction 16). The same reaction carried out without DMSO yielded the same product in only 23% yield. Mechanistic studies led to a mechanism proposal.³¹ Similarly to the reaction mentioned in the bromination section going through an *N*-haloarylamine (Scheme 5, reaction 15), indazole chlorination can be performed with NCS in the presence of 2,4,6-trimethylaniline.²⁶ Finally, 5-bromoindazole led to the corresponding 3-chloro derivative in good yield after electrophilic chlorination using 1-chloro-1,2-benziodoxol-3-one, an hypervalent iodine reagent (Scheme 6, reaction 17).³²



Scheme 6. Chlorination at the indazole 3-position using various conditions.

3. Alkylation

As presented below, many different synthetic approaches can afford 3-alkylated indazoles. As a first example, diversely substituted 3-allyl-1*H*-indazoles were prepared with good enantioselectivity and regioselectivity from 1*H*-indazoles, substituted at the 1 position by a mesitylcarbonyloxy group, and allenes. This method used an umpolung CuH-catalyzed strategy in the presence of a chiral phosphine ligand and dimethoxymethylsilane (DMMS). A density functional theory (DFT) study explained the reactivity difference between indazole and indole electrophiles (Scheme 7, reaction 18).³³ In another strategy, regioselective zincation at the 3-position of N1-Boc indazole using TMP₂Zn

(bis(2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidinyl)zinc), transmetalation with CuCN2LiCl and reaction with ethyl 2-(bromomethyl)acrylate led to the allyl derivative in 89% yield (Scheme 7, reaction 19).³⁴ The same metalation strategy was used for subsequent acylation or Negishi coupling (see below in the corresponding sections). 3-Alkylindazoles were also prepared via photoredox Minisci chemistry using alkyltrifluoroborates, a mild oxidant (potassium persulfate) and an organic photocatalyst (MesAcr, mesityl acridinium) under visible light irradiation using a compact fluorescent lamp (CFL) (Scheme 7, reaction 20).³⁵ In a paper focused on enantioselective domino Friedel-Crafts-type synthesis of tetrahydrocarbazoles, a single example of tetrahydrocarbazole substituted at the 1 position by a 1H-indazol-3-yl moiety was reported from a 4-indolylbutanal using 1H-indazole as nucleophile in the presence (R)-3,3'-bis(2,4,6-triisopropylphenyl)-1,1'-binaphthyl-2,2'-diyl hydrogen phosphate ((R)-TRIP) (Scheme 7, reaction 21).³⁶ The product was obtained with 94% yield, however with low enantioselectivity. Similarly, nucleophilic addition of indazole to the iminium intermediate generated in situ from

of

N-(2,2-diethoxyethoxy)benzimidamide in formic acid led the to corresponding 3-phenyl-5,6-dihydro-4H-[1,2,4]oxadiazine bearing an indazol-3-yl moiety at the 5-position (Scheme 7, reaction 22).37



Scheme 7. C3-Alkylation of 1H-indazoles.

Alkylation of 2H-indazole derivatives has also been reported through different methods. For instance, direct Bu₄NI-catalyzed oxidative cross dehydrogenative coupling between indazoles and methylated arenes produced compounds substituted at the 3-position. The reaction was promoted by *tert*-butylperoxybenzoate (DTBP) and generated benzyl free-radical species (Scheme 8, reaction 23).³⁸ Regioselective C3-substitution of 2*H*-indazoles was also achieved in the presence of bengal rose as photoredox catalyst and *t*-butylhydroperoxide (TBHP) as an oxidant, *via* a visible-light-promoted cross-dehydrogenative coupling between 2*H*-indazoles and cyclic (thio)ethers (Scheme 8, reaction 24).³⁹A series of 2*H*-indazoles diversely alkylated at the 3-position were also prepared *via* a direct radical alkylation using dihydropyridine derivatives (DHP) as radical sources in the presence of a Ag(I)/Na₂S₂O₈ system (Scheme 8, reaction 25).⁴⁰ Finally, 3-trifluoromethylation involving radical intermediates formed in the presence of sodium trifluoromethanesulfinate and TBHP was reported with acceptable to good yields (Scheme 8, reaction 26).⁴¹ Using sodium trifluoromethanesulfinate, regioselective photoredox-catalyzed reaction under visible light irradiation in the presence of methylene blue and PIDA also led to 3-trifluoromethylation of 2*H*-indazoles.⁴²



Scheme 8. C3-Alkylation of 2H-indazoles.

4. Alkenylation

Only few examples of C3-alkenylation were reported with chemical yields $\geq 80\%$. One consisted in a mechanochemical approach allowing the direct alkenylation of N1-protected 1*H*-indazoles through palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling with acrylates or phosphonates (Scheme 9, reaction 27).⁴³ Guillaumet's group also reported oxidative alkenylation of N1- or N2-protected indazoles in solution (Scheme 9, reaction 28).⁴⁴



5. (Hetero)arylation

Development of indazole 3-(hetero)arylations was more often reported. Such direct (hetero)arylation at C3-position of N-substituted 1*H*- or 2*H*-indazoles was described using a Pd/phenanthroline catalytic system

in good yields (Scheme 10, reactions 29 and 30).⁴⁵ Similarly, palladium-catalyzed C3-(hetero)arylation of N2-benzyl or akyl-2*H*-indazoles was described in the presence of potassium acetate in DMA (Scheme 10, reaction 31).⁴⁶ Palladium and copper-catalyzed C-H arylations with iodoarenes were also reported with lower yields using PdCl₂/phenanthroline/Ag₂CO₃/K₃PO₄ as catalytic system for 1*H*- and 2*H*-indazoles or CuI/phenanthroline/LiO*t*-Bu for 2*H*-indazoles.⁴⁷ On water conditions were also developed to access diversely substituted C3-arylated indazoles by direct palladium-catalyzed arylation of 2*H*-indazoles (Scheme 10, reaction 32).⁴⁸ Recently, a similar approach using Pd(OAc)₂/PPh₃/Ag₂CO₃ catalytic system was reported.⁴⁹



Scheme 10. (Hetero)arylation at the 3-position of 1H- or 2H-indazoles.

In a work aiming at identifying new photostable near-infrared probes, various donor-acceptor-type biheteroaryl fluorophores were prepared *via* palladium-catalyzed oxidative cross-coupling of electron-deficient 2*H*-indazoles with electron-rich heteroarenes (Scheme 11, reaction 33).⁵⁰ Such palladium-catalyzed oxidative arylation with arenes was also recently reported from 1*H*-indazole leading to C3-arylated derivatives (Scheme 11, reaction 34).⁵¹ Another approach was a metal-free photocatalytic C3-arylation of 2*H*-indazoles using aryldiazonium salts, Eosin Y and green LED irradiation (Scheme 11, reaction 35).⁵² The reaction was described by continuous flow or batch synthesis and a plausible reaction mechanism was proposed. The same group published similar reaction using an Eosin Y catalyst immobilized on a capillary reactor tube.⁵³ C3-Arylation of 2*H*-indazoles using mild visible-light-mediated photocatalyst-free conditions (pyridine, blue LEDs, DMSO, 23 °C) in the presence of aryldiazoniums was also reported.⁵⁴

As previously mentioned in the alkylation section, C3 substitution of indazoles *via* regioselective C3-zincation of N1-protected indazoles using TMP₂Zn followed by Negishi coupling led to various (hetero)arylindazoles (Scheme 12 reaction 36).³⁴ Similar metalation strategy from 2-SEM protected 2*H*-indazole using *n*-BuLi, transmetalation with ZnCl₂ and Negishi coupling was also reported recently.^{55,56}





Scheme 12. (Hetero)arylation at the 3-position of 1H or 2H-indazoles.

6. Acylation

Together with allylation and arylation described above (reactions 19 and 36), the Knochel group reported 3-acylation reactions using similar metalation conditions with TMP_2Zn . Thus, reaction of 1*H*- or 2*H*-protected (Boc, MOM, SEM) indazoles with various acyl chlorides led to the corresponding C3-acylated products *via* regioselective C3-zincation, subsequent transmetalation with CuCN2LiCl and reaction with acyl chlorides.^{34,57}

Ni-catalyzed C3-acylation of 2*H*-indazoles was reported using aldehydes as acylating reagents. This reaction was performed in the presence of TBHP as free-radical initiator and pivalic acid as an additive (Scheme 13, reaction 37).⁵⁸ 3-Acyl-2*H*-indazoles were also prepared in modest to good chemical yields by direct radical addition using Ag-catalyzed decarboxylative coupling of α -keto acids (Scheme 13, reaction 38).⁵⁹ Recent acylation reaction of 2*H*-indazoles with acyl-DHP in the presence of a Ag(I)/Na₂S₂O₈ system used similar conditions as those reported for alkylation with alkyl-DHP (Scheme 8, reaction 25). Corresponding 3-acylindazoles were obtained in acceptable to good yields (15 examples, 40% to 92% yields).⁴⁰

7. Formylation

Very few examples of 3-formylation were described for indazoles. However, Vilsmeier-Haack reaction using POCl₃/DMF was performed on 5-nitro-1*H*-indazole, leading to the corresponding 3-formyl analogue in 92% yield.⁶⁰

8. Nitration

Only few examples of indazole nitration reactions have been reported since 2010 in the non-patent literature. Radical C3-nitration of 2*H*-indazoles has been achieved using Fe(NO₃)₃ in the presence of (2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidin-1-yl)oxy (TEMPO) and oxygen as oxidants (Scheme 14, reaction 39). A plausible mechanism established on control experiments and quantum chemical calculations was proposed.⁶¹ The synthesis of 3,7-dinitro-1*H*-indazole from corresponding 7-nitroindazole was described by Claramunt *et al.*⁶² using a procedure previously reported by Habraken group after a thermal rearrangement of a 2,7-dinitroindazole intermediate (Scheme 14, reaction 40).⁶³



Scheme 14. Nitration at the 3-position of 1H- and 2H-indazoles.

NO-

85%

9. Amination

A few examples of 1*H*-indazoles amination were found. However, none of them led to corresponding 3-aminated-1*H*-indazole with yields higher than 80%.⁶⁴⁻⁶⁶ For 2*H*-indazoles, a versatile C3 amination method involved organophotoredox-catalyzed oxidative coupling in the presence of 9-mesityl-10-methylacridinium ion (Acr⁺-MesClO₄) under blue LED irradiation (Scheme 15, reaction 41).⁶⁷ In another method, metal-free 2*H*-indazoles C3 amination using mainly pyrazole(s) as coupling partner(s) was performed via a radical process using potassium persulfate (Scheme 15, reaction 42).⁶⁸ Finally, an electrochemical C3-amination of 2*H*-indazoles was recently described (Scheme 15, reaction 43).⁶⁹



Scheme 15. Amination at the 3-position of 1*H*- and 2*H*-indazoles.

10. Borylation

C3 borylation of indazoles is a chemical transformation allowing the preparation of useful intermediates for further coupling such as Suzuki-Miyaura reactions. A regioselective iridium catalyzed

108

borylation of 1-methyl-1*H*-indazole was achieved in the presence of $[Ir(OMe)(COD)]_2/di-tert$ -butyl bipyridine (dtbpy), bis(pinacolato)diboron (B₂Pin₂) in TBME with a modest 50% yield.⁷⁰ However, a one-pot procedure borylation/Suzuki-Miyaura coupling showed interesting results. Similar procedure was reported for diversely *N*-protected 1*H*- and 2*H*-indazoles with full conversion.⁷¹

11. Sulfenylation

As mentioned above for iodination (Scheme 3, reaction 7), magnesiation at the 3-position of N2-THP protected indazoles is possible by using TMPMgCl LiCl in THF. Similarly, subsequent trapping with Me_2S_2 led to corresponding 7-iodo-3-methylsulfanyl-2-THP-2*H*-indazole in 87% yield.¹⁴

Potassium persulfate-mediated C3 thiocyanation using ammonium thiocyanate under iron-catalysis was successfully applied to diversely substituted 2*H*-indazoles (Scheme 16, reaction 44). The putative mechanism involved a radical pathway. Interestingly, similar conditions in the presence of KSeCN instead of NH_4SCN allowed C3 selenocyanation of 2*H*-indazoles.⁷²



Scheme 16. Thiocyanation at the 3-position of 2H-indazoles.

12. Sulfonylation

Electrochemical sulfonylation of diversely substituted 2H-indazoles was recently reported using sulfonyl hydrazides (Scheme 17, reaction 45)⁷³ or sodium sulfinates (Scheme 17, reaction 46)⁷⁴ as sulfonyl donors.



Scheme 17. Sulfonylation at the 3-position of 2H-indazoles.

13. Selenylation

1H-indazole was regioselectively selenylated at the 3-position using iodine-catalyzed process in the presence of various diaryl diselenides and I₂/DMSO as oxidant system (3 examples, 79%-85% yields). In the proposed mechanism, an electrophilic species was formed between diphenyl diselenide and I₂.⁷⁵ More recently, similar approach in the absence of DMSO was reported for C3-selenylation of 2*H*-indazoles (Scheme 18, reaction 47).⁷⁶



Scheme 18. Selenylation at the 3-position of 2H-indazoles.

3-Phenylselenyl-1*H*-indazole was also prepared *via* a radical pathway in 81% yield by reacting indazole and diphenyl diselenide in the presence of bis(trifluoroacetoxy)iodo)benzene (PIFA) as a promoter in dichloromethane.⁷⁷ The same selenylated indazole was also prepared in 81% yield using rose Bengal, diphenyl diselenide and blue LED irradiation.⁷⁸

14. Conclusions

Due to the growing interest on indazole-containing compounds in medicinal chemistry or for the photophysical properties of organic materials, numerous projects have been dedicated to set up new methodologies allowing regioselective functionalization of this heteroaromatic moiety. This review focused on the regioselective 3-position functionalization of 1*H*- or 2*H*-indazoles and mentioned numerous works devoted to the introduction of various substituents at this position. Halogenation reactions, especially those introducing Br or I atoms are useful steps for further metal-catalyzed cross coupling reactions. For the same purpose, a few direct 3-borylations have been reported. Alkylation and reactions leading to Csp2 coupling (alkenylation, (hetero)arylation, acylation) have also been extensively studied. However, despite the intense efforts made in this area, some specific functionalization such as fluorination, formylation, alkoxycarbonylation, cyanation, borylation or azidation were only rarely reported, with poor to modest yields. In addition, 3-functionalizations involving N1- or N2-protected indazoles, *i.e.* bearing easily cleavable nitrogen-substituents, are reported in some cases, but are not widespread. Altogether, if current methods offer many solutions for the organic chemist, improvements and complementary procedures are still needed.

References

- Visseq, A.; Descheemaeker, A.; Pinto-Pardo, N.; Nauton, L.; Théry, V.; Giraud, F.; Abrunhosa-Thomas, I.; Artola, A.; Anizon, F.; Dallel, R.; Moreau, P. Eur. J. Med. Chem. 2020, 187, 111917.
- Tazarki, H.; Zeinyeh, W.; Esvan, Y. J.; Knapp, S.; Chatterjee, D.; Schröder, M.; Joerger, A. C.; Khiari, J.; Josselin, B.; Baratte, B.; Bach, S.; Ruchaud, S.; Anizon, F.; Giraud, F.; Moreau, P. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* 2019, *166*, 304-317.
- 3. Giraud, F.; Anizon, F.; Moreau, P. in *Targets in Heterocyclic System-Chemistry and Properties*; Attanasi, O. A.; Noto, R.; Spinelli, D. Eds.; Italian Society of Chemistry; Roma, **2014**, *18*, 1-29.
- Wang, X.-R.; Wang, S.; Li, W.-B.; Xu, K.-Y.; Qiao, X.-P.; Jing, X.-L.; Wang, Z.-X.; Yang, C.-J.; Chen, S.-W. Eur. J. Med. Chem. 2021, 213, 113192.
- 5. Salovich, J. M.; Lindsley, C. W.; Hopkins, C. R.; Tetrahedron Lett. 2010, 51, 3796-3799.
- Chekal, B. P.; Guinness, S. M.; Lillie, B. M.; McLaughlin, R. W.; Palmer, C. W.; Post, R. J.; Sieser, J. E.; Singer, R. A.; Sluggett, G. W.; Vaidyanathan, R.; Withbroe, G. J. Org. Process Res. Dev. 2014, 18, 266-274.
- Duan, Y.; Wang, J.; Zhu, S.; Tu, Z.-C.; Zhang, Z.; Chan, S.; Ding, K. Eur. J. Med. Chem. 2020, 203, 112552.
- 8. Zhai, L.-H.; Guo, L.-H.; Luo, Y.-H.; Ling, Y.; Sun, B.-W. Org. Process Res. Dev. 2015, 19, 849-857.
- Sampson, P. B.; Liu, Y.; Forrest, B.; Cumming, G.; Li, S.-W.; Patel, N. K.; Edwards, L.; Laufer, R.; Feher, M.; Ban, F.; Awrey, D. E.; Mao, G.; Plotnikova, O.; Hodgson, R.; Beletskaya, I.; Mason, J. M.; Luo, X.; Nadeem, V.; Wie, X.; Kiarash, R.; Madeira, B.; Huang, P.; Mak, T. W.; Pan, G.; Pauls, H. W. J. Med. Chem. 2015, 58, 147-169.
- Tomassi, S.; Lategahn, J.; Engel, J.; Keul, M.; Tumbrink, H. L.; Ketzer, J.; Mühlenberg, T.; Baumann, M.; Schultz-Fademrecht, C.; Bauer, S.; Rauh, D. J. Med. Chem. 2017, 60, 2361-2372.
- Zhou, Q.; Phoa, A. F.; Abbassi, R. H.; Hoque, M.; Reekie, T. A.; Font, J. S.; Ryan, R. M.; Stringer, B. W.; Day, B. W.; Johns, T. G.; Munoz, L.; Kassiou, M. J. Med. Chem. 2017, 60, 2052-2070.
- 12. Tang, R.-J.; Milcent, T.; Crousse, B. J. Org. Chem. 2018, 83, 930-938.
- 13. Sun, L.; Zhang, X.; Wang, C.; Teng, H.; Ma, J.; Li, Z.; Chen, H.; Jiang, H. Green Chem. 2019, 21, 2732-2738.
- 14. Lam, B. V.; Berhault, Y.; Stiebing, S.; Fossey, C.; Cailly, T.; Collot, V.; Fabis, F. Chem. Eur. J. 2016, 22, 4440-4446.
- 15. Lohou, E.; Collot, V.; Stiebing, S.; Rault, S. Synthesis 2011, 2011, 2651-2663.

- Kim, Y.-Y.; Choi, J.; Choi, K.; Park, C.; Kim, Y. H.; Suh, K. H.; Ham, Y. J.; Jang, S. Y.; Lee, K.-H.; Hwang, K. W. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2019, 29, 271-275.
- Bollenbach, M.; Lugnier, C.; Kremer, M.; Salvat, E.; Megat, S.; Bihel, F.; Bourguignon, J.-J.; Barrot, M.; Schmitt, M. Eur. J. Med. Chem. 2019, 177, 269-290.
- Wood, S. D.; Grant, W.; Adrados, I.; Choi, J. Y.; Alburger, J. M.; Duckett, D. R.; Roush, W. R. ACS Med. Chem. Lett. 2017, 8, 1258-1263.
- Elie, J.; Vercouillie, J.; Arlicot, N.; Lemaire, L.; Bidault, R.; Bodard, S.; Hosselet, C.; Deloye, J.-B.; Chalon, S.; Emond, P.; Guilloteau, D.; Buron, F.; Routier, S. J. Enzyme Inhib. Med. Chem. 2019, 34, 1-7.
- Rueeger, H.; Lueoend, R.; Rogel, O.; Rondeau, J.-M.; Möbitz, H.; Machauer, R.; Jacobson, L.; Staufenbiel, M.; Desrayaud, S.; Neumann, U. J. Med. Chem. 2012, 55, 3364-3386.
- Ouvry, G.; Atrux-Tallau, N.; Bihl, F.; Bondu, A.; Bouix-Peter, C.; Carlavan, I.; Christin, O.; Cuadrado, M.-J.; Defoin-Platel, C.; Deret, S.; Duvert, D.; Feret, C.; Forissier, M.; Fournier, J.-F.; Froude, D.; Hacini-Rachinel, F.; Harris, C. S.; Hervouet, C.; Huguet, H.; Lafitte, G.; Luzy, A.-P.; Musicki, B.; Orfila, D.; Ozello, B.; Pascau, C.; Pascau, J.; Parnet, V.; Peluchon, G.; Pierre, R.; Piwnica, D.; Raffin, C.; Rossio, P.; Spiesse, D.; Taquet, N.; Thoreau, E.; Vatinel, R.; Vial, E.; Hennequin, L. F. *ChemMedChem.* 2018, 20, 321-337.
- Wang, C.; Pei, Y.; Wang, L.; Li, S.; Jiang, C.; Tan, X.; Dong, Y.; Xiang, Y.; Ma, Y.; Liu, G. J. Med. Chem. 2020, 63, 6066-6089.
- Boga, S. B.; Alhassan, A.-B.; Cooper, A. B.; Doll, R.; Shih, N.-Y.; Shipps, G.; Deng, Y.; Zhu, H.; Nan, Y.; Sun, R.; Zhu, L.; Desai, J.; Patel, M.; Muppalla, K.; Gao, X.; Wang, J.; Yao, X.; Kelly, J.; Gudipati, S.; Paliwal, S.; Tsui, H.-C.; Wang, T.; Sherborne, B.; Xiao, L.; Hruza, A.; Buevich, A.; Zhang, L.-K.; Hesk, D.; Samatar, A. A.; Carr, D.; Long, B.; Black, S.; Dayananth, P.; Windsor, W.; Kirschmeier, P.; Bishop, R. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2018**, *28*, 2029-2034.
- Rogers, D. A.; Brown, R. G.; Brandeburg, Z. C.; Ko, E. Y.; Hopkins, M. D.; LeBlanc, G.; Lamar, A. A. ACS Omega 2018, 3, 12868-12877.
- 25. Maddox, S. M.; Nalbandian, C. J.; Smith, D. E.; Gustafson, J. L. Org. Lett. 2015, 17, 1042-1045.
- 26. Samanta, R. C.; Yamamoto, H. Chem. Eur. J. 2015, 21, 11976-11979.
- 27. Yu, J.; Hong, Z.; Yang, X.; Jiang, Y.; Jiang, Z.; Su, W. Beilstein J. Org. Chem. 2018, 14, 786-795.
- 28. Jiang, P.-P.; Yang, X.-J. RSC Adv. 2016, 6, 90031-90034.
- Neto, J. S. S.; Balaguez, R. A.; Franco, M. S.; de Sá Machado, V. C.; Saba, S.; Rafique, J.; Galetto, F. Z.; Braga, A. L. *Green Chem.* 2020, 22, 3410-3415.
- Micheletti, G.; Kouakou, A.; Boga, C.; Franchi, P.; Calvaresi, M.; Guadagnini, L.; Lucarini, M.; Rakib, E. M.; Spinelli, D.; Tonelli, D.; Forsal, I. Arab. J. Chem. 2017, 10, 823-836.
- Song, S.; Li, X.; Wei, J.; Wang, W.; Zhang, Y.; Ai, L.; Zhu, Y.; Shi, X.; Zhang, X.; Jiao, N. Nat. Catal. 2020, 3, 107-115.
- 32. Wang, M.; Zhang, Y.; Wang, T.; Wang, C.; Xue, D.; Xiao, J. Org. Lett. 2016, 18, 1976-1979.
- 33. Ye, Y.; Kevlishvili, I.; Feng, S.; Liu, P.; Buchwald, S. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2020, 142, 10550-10556.
- 34. Unsinn, A.; Knochel, P. Chem. Commun. 2012, 48, 2680-2682.
- 35. Matsui, J. K.; Primer, D. N.; Molander, G. A. Chem. Sci. 2017, 8, 3512-3522.
- Hansen, C. L.; Ohm, R. G.; Olsen, L. B.; Ascic, E.; Tanner, D.; Nielsen, T. E. Org. Lett. 2016, 18, 5990-5993.
- 37. Veerman, J. J. N.; Bruseker, Y. B.; van Esseveldt, B. C. J.; Glen, R.; Harrison, B. A.; Heijne, E. H.; McRiner, A. J.; Meulemans, T. M.; van Rijnsbergen, P.; Zonneveld, W.; Bursavich, M. G.; Burnett, D. A. *Heterocycles* 2016, 92, 2166-2200.
- 38. Yadav, L.; Chaudhary, S. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2020, 18, 5927-5936.
- 39. Singsardar, M.; Laru, S.; Mondal, S.; Hajra, A. J. Org. Chem. 2019, 84, 4543-4550.
- 40. Liu, L.; Jiang, P.; Liu, Y.; Du, H.; Tan, J. Org. Chem. Front. 2020, 7, 2278-2283.
- 41. Ghosh, P.; Mondal, S.; Hajra, A. J. Org. Chem. 2018, 83, 13618-13623.
- Murugan, A.; Babu, V. N.; Polu, A.; Sabarinathan, N.; Bakthadoss, M.; Sharada, D. S. J. Org. Chem. 2019, 84, 7796-7803.
- 43. Yu, J.; Yang, X.; Wu, C.; Su, W. J. Org. Chem. 2020, 85, 1009-1021, and references therein.

- 44. Naas, M.; El Kazzouli, S.; Essassi, E. M.; Bousmina, M.; Guillaumet, G. Org. Lett. 2015, 17, 4320-4323.
- 45. Ye, M.; Edmunds, A. J. F.; Morris, J. A.; Sale, D.; Zhang, Y.; Yu, J.-Q. Chem. Sci. 2013, 4, 2374-2379.
- Belkessam, F.; Aidene, M.; Soulé, J.-F.; Doucet, H. ChemCatChem 2017, 9, 2239-2249, and references therein.
- 47. Hattori, K.; Yamaguchi, K.; Yamaguchi, J.; Itami, K. Tetrahedron 2012, 68, 7605-7612.
- 48. Ohnmacht, S. A.; Culshaw, A. J.; Greaney, M. F. Org. Lett. 2010, 12, 224-226.
- Gambouz, K.; El Abbouchi, A.; Nassiri, S.; Suzenet, F.; Bousmina, M.; Akssira, M.; Guillaumet, G.; El Kazzouli, S. *Molecules* 2020, 25, 2820.
- 50. Cheng, Y.; Li, G.; Liu, Y.; Shi, Y.; Gao, G.; Wu, D.; Lan, J.; You, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2016, 138, 4730–4738.
- Gambouz, K.; El Abbouchi, A.; Nassiri, S.; Suzenet, F.; Bousmina, M.; Akssira, M.; Guillaumet, G.; El Kazzouli, S. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2020, 2020, 7435-7439.
- 52. Vidyacharan, S.; Ramanjaneyulu, B. T.; Jang, S.; Kim, D.-P. ChemSusChem 2019, 12, 2581-2586.
- 53. Jang, S.; Vidyacharan, S.; Ramanjaneyulu, B. T.; Gyak, K.-W.; Kim, D.-P. *React. Chem. Eng.* 2019, *4*, 1466-1471.
- 54. Aganda, K. C. C.; Kim, J.; Lee, A. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2019, 17, 9698-9702.
- 55. Basu, K.; Poirier, M.; Ruck, R. T. Org. Lett. 2016, 18, 3218-3221.
- Scott, J. D.; DeMong, D. E.; Greshock, T. J.; Basu, K.; Dai, X.; Harris, J.; Hruza, A.; Li, S. W.; Lin, S.-I.; Liu, H.; Macala, M. K.; Hu, Z.; Mei, H.; Zhang, H.; Walsh, P.; Poirier, M.; Shi, Z.-C.; Xiao, L.; Agnihotri, G.; Baptista, M. A. S.; Colombus, J.; Fell, M. J.; Hyde, L. A.; Kuvelkar, R.; Lin, Y.; Mirescu, C.; Morrow, J. A.; Yin, Z.; Zhang, X.; Zhou, X.; Chang, R. K.; Embrey, M. W.; Sanders, J. M.; Tiscia, H. E.; Drolet, R. E.; Kern, J. T.; Sur, S. M.; Renger, J. J.; Bilodeau, M. T.; Kennedy, M. E.; Parker, E. K.; Stamford, A. W.; Nargund, R.; McCauley, J. A.; Miller, M. W. J. Med. Chem. 2017, 60, 2983-2992.
- 57. Unsinn, A.; Wunderlich, S. H.; Knochel, P. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2013, 355, 989-995.
- 58. Liu, Y.-L.; Pan, Y.-L.; Li, G.-J.; Xu, H.-F.; Chen, J.-Z. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2019, 17, 8749-8755.
- 59. Bogonda, G.; Kim, H. Y.; Oh, K. Org. Lett. 2018, 20, 2711-2715, and references therein.
- Sreenivasulu, R.; Sujitha, P.; Jadav, S. S.; Ahsan, M. J.; Kumar, C. G.; Raju, R. R. Monatsh. Chem. 2017, 148, 305-314.
- 61. Murugan, A.; Gorantla, K. R.; Mallik, B. S.; Sharada, D. S. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2018, 16, 5113-5118.
- Claramunt, R. M.; López, C.; López, A.; Pérez-Medina, C.; Pérez-Torralba, M.; Alkorta, I.; Elguero, J.; Escames, G.; Acuña-Castroviejo, D. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* 2011, 46, 1439-1447.
- 63. Cohen-Fernandes, P.; Habraken, C. L. J. Org. Chem. 1971, 36, 3084-3086.
- 64. Margrey, K. A.; Levens, A.; Nicewicz, D. A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2017, 56, 15644-15648.
- 65. Romero, N. A.; Margrey, K. A.; Tay, N. E.; Nicewicz, D. A. Sciences 2015, 349,1326-1330.
- 66. Margrey, K. A.; McManus, J. B.; Bonazzi, S.; Zecri, F.; Nicewicz, D. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2017, 139, 11288-11299.
- 67. Neogi, S.; Ghosh, A. K.; Majhi, K.; Samanta, S.; Kibriya, G.; Hajra, A. Org. Lett. 2020, 22, 5605-5609.
- 68. Wang, K.; Wei, T.; Zhang, Y.; Hou, J.; Bai, R.; Xie, Y. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2021, 19, 1787-1794.
- 69. Sun, M.; Zhou, Y.; Li, L.; Wang, L.; Ma, Y.; Li, P. Org. Chem. Front. 2021, 8, 754-759.
- 70. Egan, B. A.; Burton, P. M. RSC Adv. 2014, 4, 27726-27719.
- 71. Sadler, S. A.; Hones, A. C.; Roberts, B.; Blakemore, D.; Marder, T. B.; Steel, P. G. J. Org. Chem. 2015, 80, 5308-5314.
- 72. Dey, A.; Hajra, A. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2019, 361, 842-849.
- 73. Mahanty, K.; Maiti, D.; De Sarkar, S. J. Org. Chem. 2020, 85, 3699-3708.
- 74. Kim, W.; Kim, H. Y.; Oh, K. Org. Lett. 2020, 22, 6319-6323.
- 75. Rafique, J.; Saba, S.; Rosário, A. R.; Braga, A. L. Chem. Eur. J. 2016, 22, 11854-11862.
- 76. Dey, A.; Hajra, A. J. Org. Chem. 2019, 84, 14904-14910.
- 77. Song, Z.; Ding, C.; Wang, S.; Dai, Q.; Sheng, Y.; Zheng, Z.; Liang, G. Chem. Commun. **2020**, *56*, 1847-1850.
- Saba, S.; Rafique, J.; Franco, M. S.; Schneider, A. R.; Espindola, L.; Silva, D. O.; Braga, A. L. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2018, 16, 880-885.